The following pages were selected from Cesar Chavez: Autobiography of
La Causa, written by Jacques Levy. This is one of the best books ever written
about Cesar Chavez, and is the closest thing available to an autobiography.
Mr. Levy enjoyed almost uninvited access to Cesar Chavez for nearly six years,
traveling with him, attending meetings with him, working with him, and
interviewing him. He also interviewed members of the Chavez family, friends,
colleagues, and other key individuals. According to Jacques Levy, this book is
"the true story of Cesar Chavez and La Causa -- the truth as perceived by those
who lived it and witnessed it." As Cesar Chavez said in a conversation with
Mr. Levy, "truth is nonviolence. So everything really comes from truth. Truth is
the ultimate. Truth is God. Truth is on our side, even more than justice, because
truth can’t be changed. It has a way of manifesting itself It has to come out, so
sooner or later we’ll win."

A second edition of Cesar Chavez: Autobiography of La Causa will soon be
published. It is highly recommended that students conducting research on Cesar
Chavez, has life, has works, as well as has commitment to nonviolence; obtain a
copy of Mr. Levy’s book. It is the best primary source available.

For selected topics, see the table of contents on the following page.
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CHAPTER !

A Step to Freedom

* CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

The need for radical change 1s great and urgent, in the cihies as
well as 1n the fields, and if we don’t succeed, violence will spread
Other movements will try to do it with violence

But in seeking social change, I am positive nonviolence 1s the
way, morally and tactically, especially m our society where those
mm power resort to clubs, tear gas, and guns I have seen non-
violence work manv fimes mn many ways When we orgamzed
Calhforma’s vineyards, for example, it was the growers’ violence,
their manmipulation of the police and the courts, that helped win
support for our cause

We can remain nonviolent because people outside the Move-
ment bv and large don’'t want violence By remaming nonviolent
m the face of violence, we win them to our side, and that’s what
makes the strength And we orgamze that strength to fight for
change

My expenences in the Union had happened to me ten or fifteen
times before in CSO Eveny time I orgamized a hittle group on a
smaller scale, the same thing happened 1 orgamized from the
ground up, helped people, got them together, and started fighting
for what was needed Pretty soon they were using therr power ef-
fectively and trymg to get things changed.

The Union 1s the same thing, just on a much bigger scale What
happens next may be even bigger Gut of each expenience enovgh
light 1s generated to illununate another httle stretch Who knows
where 1t will lead? And who can tell where 1t started?



CHAPTER 4

Dichos and Consejos

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

I had more happy moments as a cluld than unhappy moments
Because my parents were muiddle-aged when they got marned,
they had a lot of understanding They had passed that cnitical age
when parents are very young and impatient with cluldren. We
didn’t know what it was to be excluded We were a very close
fammly

Now, in my case, my own family, I am always organizing, go-
mg to meetings, and coming home late Sometimes 1 am not
home for weeks at a time, and when I get home 1t’s so late the
children are asleep Not long ago, 1t got so bad that my son Paul,
who was twelve at the hme, reacted One mght when I went to
bed, T lay there looking up at the celing I don’t know how he
reached up there, but nght above my bed, where I could not miss
it, he wrote “Paul.” It's a strong message.

Back i those Anzona days, such reminders were unnecessary,
as most of our activibies were with the family In fact, one of the
three major imnfluences in my hfe was my upbnnging by my mother
and dad and the kind of family we had The other two were my
years of traimmng and expenences m CSO and the expenences in
the Union

I don’t think we were babied, because my dad was strict about
certain things e was very stern about obeymng him, but very
lement about many other things If he asked us to do something,
we had to do 1it, and he didn’t want to tell us twice He was affec-
tionate, but mn terms that were very different than my mother’s.

She was affectionate and showed 1t by kissing and hugging, while
my dad would just tug our ears or pat us on the head He showed
his affechion differently For instance, from the time we were very
small, we never called my mother at might If we wanted water or
wanted to go to the bathroom, we called our dad In those days
the bathroom was an outhouse a long way from the house toward
the hills, and he would carry us there

My dad also used to build most of the little cars we played with
He taught us how to take a sardine can after 1t was open, cut the
top off, and attach wooden wheels to 1t with wire or a nail He
also taught us how to make tractors out of wooden spools of
thread.
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But my dad was usually too busv to spend much time with us
My mom kept the family together She was the sort of woman
who had time for her children, who would talk with us She used
many dichos—proverbs—and they all had a real purpose “What
you do to others, others do to you” was one of them “He who
holds the cow, sins as much as he who kills her.” “If you're 1n the
honey, some of 1t will stick to you” Though she was 1lliterate, she
had a tremendous memory I think most illiterate persons do be-
cause they must rely on their memones

She also gave us a lot of consejos—advice She didn’t wait until
something went wrong, nor was she scolding when she was dong
it It was part of the traimng At first [ didn’t understand, but
she would make 1t easy for us She would say, “He who never
listens to consejos will never grow to be old ”

I remember her story of the stone freezing m the boy’s hand.
It was a very disobedient son who came home drunk and got real
mad at lis mother He picked up a rock and was about to throw
it at her when it froze to his hand. Her stornes were about obed:-
ence and honesty and some of the virtues There were others that
dealt wrth miracles The range was very wide

When I look back, I see her sermons had tremendous impact
on me I didn’t know 1t was nonviolence then, but after reading
Gandhy, St Francis, and other exponents of nonviolence, I be-
gan to clanfy that in my mund Now that I'm older I see she is
nonviolent, 1f anybody 1s, both by word and deed She would al-
ways talk about not fighting Despite a culture where you're not
a man 1if you don’t fight back, she would say, “No, 1t’s best to
turn the other cheek God gave you senses Like eyes and mund
and tongue, and you can get out of anything” She would say, “Tt
takes two to fight” That was her favonte “It takes two to fight,
and one can’t do 1t alone.” She had all kinds of proverbs for that
“It’s better to say that he ran from here than to say he died here.”
When T was young I dido’t realize the wisdom m her words, but
1t has been proved to me so many times since Today I appreciate
the advice, and I use quite a few of the dichos, especially n
Spamish



CHAPTER 5

A Need for Faith

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALILS

As we didn’t have a church in the valley and it was very difh-
cult to go to Yuma, 1t was my mother who taught us prayers
Throughout the Southwest and Mexico where there were no
priests for a long tune, the amazing thing was that people kept
the faith But they were onented wore toward relics and saints
My mother was very rehgious without bemng fanatic, and she be-
lieved 1n saints as advocates, as lobbyists, to pray to God for her.
Her patron saint was St Eduvigs

St Fduvigis was a Polish duchess who, 1 the early Chnsthan
era, gave up all of her worldly possessions, distributed them among
the poor, and became a Chnstian On the saint’s birthday, Octo-
ber 16, my mom would find some needy person to help and, until
recently, she would always invite people to the house, usually
hobos She would go out purposely to look for someone mn need,
give him something, and never take anytlung in return If a man
was seling pencils, she would give lum some money but wouldn’t
take a pencil She would look for people who were hungry to come
to the house Usually they would offer to do some work, like chop
wood, i exchange for a meal, but she would tefuse because, she

said, the gift then was invalid. T thmk that 15 a very beautiful
customn, and my dad must have felt pretty much the same wav
because he didn’t object

Mama Tella gave us our formal rehgious tramning She was an
orphan who was raised, I understand, m a convent, but she wasn’t
a nun She was probably a servant At the convent she had Tearned
how to read and wnte m both Latm and Spanish She was the
only one of our four grandparents who was hiterate

Mama Tella became blind 1in herold age I think she could-see
a little ight and shadows, but she progressively lost her sight 1
remember she was very old, almost one hundred when she died
m 1937, and she was 10 bed most of the ttme She had a walking
cane, and two of the older great-grandchildren or my dad or
mother would take her for a walk But mostly, as I remember her,
she was always praying, just praying
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Every eveming she would sit in bed, and we would gather in
front of her As we knelt by the doorway to her room, we would
join her mn the Rosary that seemed to drone on endlessly We were
required to kneel until the prayer was over, and 1f we started gig-
gling, she would hit us with her cane After the Rosary she would
tell us about a particular samt and dnll us 1n our catechism.

After Mama Tella had prepared us for our first Communion,
my father brought my mother, Rita, and me to town one Saturday
when he went to buy seed He dropped us off at the Cathohc
church Inside it was dark and silent as we faced toward the altar
and crossed ourselves. The pews were empty, and we tiptoed in
awe across the dim mtenior until we found ourselves standing be-
fore the pnest, who seemed huge, standing m the shadows, his
white skin appearing whiter 1n the dark.

My mother explained our purpose, but the pmest shook his
head. “They haven’t had any religious traming They can’t take
Commumon,” he said Jooking down at us “They must attend
class here in Yuma first ”

My mother argued, “They can’t because we live out in the
valley twenty miles away We can’t travel that far every week ”

“Well, they can’t make their first Communion unless they do
They have to know their catechism,” the pniest answered.

My mother was desperate “Well, ask them something,” she
pleaded

We were very nervous The quet of the church bore down on
us, broken only by the argument between my mother and the
priest, and we knew the importance of fArst Commumon. But
when the questions came, we knew the answers Mama Tella’s tu-
toring had been long, mtense, and thorough

Fially the priest was sahsfied He agreed we were ready to
join the others for first Commumon the next day. But first, he
said, we must go to confession Agan I was very frightened. I had
been told what confession was, but I didn’t think I had anything
to confess I was led into a dark little room and somehow managed
to go through with 1t

After we left the church, my mother bought us special clothes.
It was the first time I wore a te, and Rita was dressed 1n whate
wrth a vell I've since seen a picture of us I couldn’t have been
over seven or eight I guess we were fnghtened because our eyes
were wide open, and our hands held the rosary T had on brand
new shoes, 2 brand new pair of pants, and a new shit—everything,
except my hair wasn’t combed



Since those days, my need for religion has deepened Today I
don’t think that I could base my will to struggle on cold economics
or on some political doctrine I don’t think there would be enough
to sustain me I'or me the base must be faith

It's not necessary to have a religion to act selflessly I know many
agnostics who are more religious 1n their own way than most peo-
ple who claim to be believers While most people drawn toward
liberalism or radicalism leave the church, 1 went the other way I
drew closer to the church the more I leammed and understood

To me, religion 15 a most beautiful thing And over the years, I
have come to realize that all religions are beautiful Your rehgion
just happens to depend a lot on your upbnnging and your culture

For me, Chnistiamty happens to be a natural source of faith. I
have read what Chnst said when he was here He was very clear
in what he meant and knew exactly what he was after He was
extremely radical, and he was for social change



CHAPTER 7

A Trail of Crops

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

All of us had the same reason why we didn’t go to high school.
After my dad was 1n an automobile accident, my mother had to
go to the fields and so did Rita No one had to tell me how bad
off we were I saw how hard they worked n the fields It was an
automatic thing for me to say, I'll go work, and T'll go to high
school 1n two years

But T never got there

All of us had this decision—not only us, but most migrants.
The only thing that has changed today 1s that migrants can at
least go to a gh school for a year or so before they must drop
out In those days. we couldn’t even go into high school But they
drop out today for the same reason we didn’t even enroll It’s an
economic reason entirely

I can’t remember our other mugrant years as well as the first
two As we moved around, they blurred The crops changed and
we kept moving There was a time for planting, and a time for
thinning, and an endless vanety of harvests up and down the
state, along the coast and 1 the interior valleys

Some jobs were easy, and some were hard, but the worst—a
man killer—was toppmg sugar beets I was around sixteen or
seventeen when I first topped beets in the Sacramento Valley.
Those beets grew big, some of them weighing fifteen pounds
The so1l, which was almost always clay, was wet and stuck to the
beet as 1t was pulled out of the ground My hand would split be-
tween the thumb and index finger as | pulled, and the stooping
also was really pamnful

After uprooting the beet, I topped the green off with a kmife
hke a machete and tossed the beet on a pile between the rows.
Then when the truck came, I loaded the beets by hand Now-
adays, all that work 1s done by machine

Other hard jobs were thinning lettuce and sugar beets dunng
the winter Both were just like threads, the plants so small that
when T looked at one, there might be ten plants there so close
together all I could do was pull them out by hand
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I would chop out a space with the short-handle hoe m the
right hand while I felt with my left to pull out all but one plant
as 1 made the next chop There was a rhythm, 1t went very fast. It
had to, 1t was all piece rate, so much by acre, so much a row. It
was really inhuman

Every time I see lettuce, that’s the first thing I think of, some
human bemg had to thin 1t And at’s just like being nailed to a
cross You have to walk twisted, as you're stooped over, facing the
row, and walking perpendicular to 1t You are always trymg to
find the best position because you can’t walk completely sideways,
it’s too difficult, and if you turn the other way, you can’t thin

‘Workers are stll seen thmning by hand along Highway 101
past Salinas where the big ranches are But it's a hittle different
today, as they use pregerminated seeds planted n single lines in-
stead of planting strips of seeds along a row Even with that dif-
ference, though, thinning is still rough

Another hard job was planting omions in January First we had
to take the seedlngs, which were Iittle bigger than a match stick,
and clean, tnm, and pack them i peat moss. We didn’t get pad
for that It was done after working hours, so we could spend all
day planting

In the field we pulled the seedlings out of the patch and pushed
them into the ground four inches apart, just like dealing cards—
one, two, three, four—no rest, just walking fast, bent over, to
push the plants in. We had to make the hole with one finger and
stick the plant m there. Some farms had good land, which was
lucky, but others had bullheads, httle thorny tlungs that punec-
tured our fingers It hurt, but we couldn’t stop We had to make
that acre

The rows were about six inches apart and a quarter-mile long,
and the furrows, not more than eighteen inches wide, had rough
clods that made 1t hard to walk We could make about three
dollars a day planting a half a mule And our backs hurt all day
long Onmnions and carrots shll are the worst paid crops, because
they come durnng the winter when the work 1s very scarce

Many things mn farm labor are terrible, like gomng under the
vines that are sprayed with sulphur and other pesticides You
have to touch those leaves and inhale that poison Then there
are the heat and the short-handle hoes and the stooping over. So
many jobs require stooping They should find a way of doing thus

work that will leave the human being whole.

I think 1t can be done, but 1t won’t be until one of two things
happen Fither the employers begin to see the workers as human
beings, or the workers orgamze agamnst the employers and demand

changes
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I think this 1s where the employer shows the most contempt
for his workers For example, T think growers use short-handle
hoes because they don’t give a damn about human beings, they
look at human bemngs as implements If they had any considera-
tion for the torture that people go through, they would give up
the short-handle hoe All that stooping 1s one reason farm workers
die before they're fifty

I remember when I was young, I'd come home, and I'd go to
bed for a little while, and I'd be ready to go But my dad couldn’t
do that He'd stay there, and somietimes he couldn’t get up to eat
That’s true of a lot of men after they get past thirty-five. I re-
member my mom returning from work and gomg to bed She
didn’t want to hear or see anything

If the work can’t be done with a long hoe, then it shouldn’t be
done They can find a way Growers talk of automation as a way
of trying to scare people away from the Umon Others talk of
automation mn terms of throwmg people out of work But there
are some Jobs that should be automated, and we should help
automate them, jobs that aren’t fit for even a beast of burden,
much less men

The beet and cotton industries are now automated, and they
should be T remewber young girls weighing 8o or go pounds
carrymg 110, 120 pound sacks of cotton They carned those sacks
not only to the scales but up ladders, way up, and then dumped
them I never understood how they could do it

At some pomnt i those years I began to take over, but not
everything because my dad wouldnt permut 1t He knew how
much I could handle The first thing I did was take over the
dnving, bit by bit, until I was doing 1t all Because I had to work
on the car and fix it, too, I didn’t hike that added responsibility
Mechanically I'mi no good But Richard was He began to learn
how to set spark plugs, and do the mmor things like lubricate and
o1l the car

Then I began to take on other responsibihibies, and I hked it
I began to set the quotas and choose the places If it was a Satur-
day and there was gomg to be a dance, the quota would be a little
lower so we could get out of there While my dad never pushed
us on the job, pretty soon I was talking about how to work better
and faster

There'’s a lot more skill in farm labor than most people realize
Yor example, grapes Those without skill are going to cut a lot of
green ones Apricots are difficult, too When the sun hits them
early in the morming and late 1n the afternoon, they all look ripe

9



But once they're cut and dumped 1n the box, they look as green
as lettuce Prunes and wme grapes are different All that's needed
15 a good strong back, a lot of stamina, a lot of strength But
apnicots, table grapes, plums, and other fruit, where picking 1s
done selectively, take skill

T made a point of talking to the fanuily about how to do a job
better and faster to make more money. We were always finding
ways of doing 1t more easily, telling each other httle secrets we
discovered.

We did not pick the same crops every year, but there was a
pattern Most winters we spent w Brawley where there were
carrots, mustard, and peas I did cabbage and lettuce mn January,
picking or working 1t, tying or loading 1t on a trailer Then a Iittle
later we capped cantaloupe and watermelon, putting a wax paper
over the plant to keep 1t from freezing and to keep the ground
warm, just ke an individual hothouse for every plant When 1t
got warmer, we came back, took the cap off, worked the ground
around the plants, and thinned them, using a short-handle hoe.

Probably one of the worst jobs was the broccol. We were 1
water and mud up to our necks and our hands got frozen We
had to cut it and throw 1t on a trailer, cut and throw, cut and
throw. We slipped around m the mud, and we were wet 1 didn’t
have any boots, just shoes on Those crops were in December
through March In January to March there also were the caul-
flower, mustard greens, ontons, carrots, cabbage, and lettuce

Then we worked 1n the watermelon, just prcking up the vines
which grew in the irngation ditches and tramming them away from
the ditches The melons started 1 May, and I would work in the
sheds for a labor contractor who was related to us.

In late May we had two or three options, Oxnard for beans,
Beaumont for chernes, or the Hemet area for apncots, places that
no longer have much or any of those crops 1 think we did all at
one trme or other. Most of the time my dad would leave 1t up to
us “Do you think you'll like 1t*”" he would ask.

We started making the apncots in Moorepark where they pick
them up from the ground, just like prunes. In San Jose, on the
other hand, we had to climb a ladder

That would be the early part of summer From there we had
all kinds of options We never did asparagus, and we only did
figs once The mulk of the fig eats through your skin like acid.
Some people put grease on their hands, but we couldn’t do that.
It was just awful
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We worked m lima beans, corn, and chili peppers, picked
fresh ima beans for fifty cents a basket Then 1n August we had
grapes, prunes, cucumbers, and tomatoes Those go nto Septem-
ber and part of October We would go before those crops started
and wait 1n a camp until they were ready For example there were
raisin grapes about ten rmles beyond Fresno We had to be there
at least a week 1n advance, or we couldn’t get a job That was a
week of lost time, sometimes more, with no pay whatsoever

Then we did cotton from October through Chnstmas. I just
hated 1t It was very hard work, but there was nothing else After
the cotton, just hike ducks, we usually went back to Brawley to
start with the crops 1n January.

So we traveled from the Impenal Valley n the south as far
north as Sacramento and San Jose
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CHAPTER 11

My Education Starts

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

We thought the only way we could get out of the arcle of pov-
erty was to work our way up and send our kuds to college That's
the trap most poor people get themselves into It's easier for a
person to just escape, to get out of poverty, than to change the
situation

We weren't saying then, we've got to orgamize a umon. We
weren’t even asking why these conditions existed We just felt they
shouldn’t be like they were It was just a part of growing up, I
guess But, if later I hadn't encountered CSO, I wouldn’t have
known what was going on m the world T got an education there

Actually my education started when I met Father Donald Mec-
Donnell, who came to Sal S1 Puedes because there was no Catholic
chuich there, no pniest, and hundreds of Mexican-Amencans We
were some of the first members that jomed his congregation for
masses 1n a little Puerto Rican hall that was just a broken-down
httle shack

Father McDonnell was about my age. We became great fnends
when I began to help him, doing a little carpentry work, cleaming
up the place, getting some chairs, and painting some old benches.
I also drove for him and helped him recite mass at the bracero
camps and m the county jail

I began to spend more tume with Father McDonnell. We had
long talks about farm workers I knew a lot about the work, but
I didn’t know anything about the economucs, and I learned quite
a bit from him

He had a picture of a worker’s shanty and a picture of a grow-
er's mansion, a picture of a labor camp and a picture of a high-
priced building 1 San Francsco owned by the same grower
When things were ponted out to e, I began to see, but I didn’t
learn everything the first ime

Everything he said was aimed at ways to solve the mjustice
Later 1 went with him a couple of tunes to some stnkes near
Tracy and Stockton
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And then we did a lot of reading That’s when I started read-
ing the Encychicals, St Francis, and Gandhi and having the case
for attamming social justice explamed As Father McDonnell fol-
lowed legislation very closely, he miroduced me to the transcnipts
of the Senate LaFollette Comimttee heanings held m 1940 1n Los
Angeles T remember three or four volumes on agnculture, descrb-
g the Associated Farmers, their terror and stnkebreaking tactics,
and their financing by banks, utilities, and big corporations These
things began to form a picture for me

When [ read the biography of St Francis of Assissy, I was moved
when he went before the Moslem prince and offered to walk
through fire to end a bloody war And I still temember how he
talked and made fniends with a wolf that had killed several men.
St. Francis was a gentle and humble man

In the St Francis biography, there was a reference to Gandh
and others who prachced nonviolence That was a theme that
struck a very responsive chord, probably because of the foundation
laid by my mother So the next thing I read after St Francis was
the Lows Fischer biography of Gandlu

Since then I've been greatly influenced by Gandhi’s philosophy
and have read a great deal about what he said and did But n
those days I knew very Itttle about hum except what I read in the
papers and saw 1n newsreels. There was one scene I never forgot
Gandln was going to a meeting with a high Bntish official
India There were throngs of people as he walked ali but naked out
of his hittle hut Then he was filmed n his loincloth, sandals, and
shawl walking up the steps of the palace.

Not too long ago T was speaking to a group of Indians including
three who had worked with Gandhi When I said I thought Gandh:
was the most perfect man, not including Christ, they all laughed
When I asked them why they laughed, they asked, “What do you
mean by perfect?”

I said I don’t mean he was perfect like a saint 1 the sense that
he didn’t move I said he was perfect in the sense that he wasn’t
afraid to move and make things happen And he didn’t ask people
to do things he couldn’t do humself

I understand Gandhi more and more To lum duty was the first
call He had no compunction whatsoever about sending someone
five hundred mules to take care of something, because he himself
was willmg to do it I myself can't do all the thngs that I ask
others to do, but then no one can try to imitate him, because 1t be-
comes false You've got to take the whole philosophy and try to
adapt 1t tc your needs I want to expemment with some of the
things he did but not mmitate him, because I don’t thmk that can
be done
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He had tremendous discipline, both personal and around him
He had all kinds of rules and mnsisted thes be obeyed So a group
of thirty, forty, or a hundred men at the most wa-~ very eftective,
because they worked like a symphony They were totally loyal to
him He wouldn’t put up with anybody being half-loval or go
percent loyal Tt was 1co percent loyal or nothing at all

Then, of course, there vwere more personal things, the whole
question of the spint versus the body He prepared himself for 1t
by his diet, starving his body so that his spint could overtake i,
controlling the palate, then controlhng the sex urge, then using
all of his energies to do nothing but service He was very tough
with himself

He believed that truth was vindicated, not by mfliction of suf-
ferimg on the opponent, but on oneself That belief comes from
Christ himself, the Sermon on the Mount, and further back from
Jewish and Hindu tradittons There's no question that by setting
such an example, you get others to do it That 15 the real essence,
but that 1s difficult That’s what separates ordmary men from great
men And we're all pretty ordimary men 1n those things

I Iike the whole idea of sacnifice to do things 1f they are done
that way, they are more lasting. If they cost more, then we will
value them more

When we apply Gandhi's philosophy of nonwviolence, 1t really
forces us to think, really forces us to work hard But 1t has power
It attracts the support of the people Ive learned that, if any
movement 15 on the move, violence 1s the last thing wanted Vio-
lence only seems necessary when people are desperate, frustration
often leads to violence

For example, a supermarket boycott 15 an effective nonviolent
weapon Fire 1s not When a fire destroys a supermarket, the com-
pany collects the msurance and rebuilds the store bigger and bet-
ter, and also marks off the loss on 1its income tax But picket lines
take away customers and reduce business, and there 1s no way for
the store to compensate for that It 1s duven by sheer economics
to want to avoid picket hines

Gandh: described his tactics as moral juptsu—always hitting the
opposition off-balance, but keeping his principles His tachies of
cvil disobedience havent hit this country on a massive scale,
but they will Anybody who comes out with the right way of do-
mg 1t 15 gong to throw the government into a real uproar. If
they have a good 1ssue, and they find a good vehicle for civil dis-
obedience, they're going to be devastating
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Just 1magine what would happen to this intricate government
we have here Look what happened with Gandhi's salt march and
the civil disobedience that followed after 1t He boycotted the salt
so the government couldn’t collect the tax, but then he showed
the people how to make therr own salt He boycotted clothes
coming 1 from England, but he turned around and showed the
Indians how to make their own clothes

I learned quite a bit from studying Gandhi, but the first prac-
tical steps I learned from the best organizer I know, Fred Ross I
first met im 1n Sal S1 Puedes He changed my life.
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CHAPTER 1

Fred Ross

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

Fred Ross never stopped working He was very persistent, and it
was lucky he was, because I never would have met him otherwise
I was trying to avoid him It must have been in June 1952 when I
came home from work one day, and Helen told me this gningo
wanted to see me That was enough to make me suspicious We
never heard anythmg from whites unless 1t was the police, or some
sociologist from Stanford, San Jose State, or Berkeley commg to
wite about Sal S1 Puedes They’d ask all kinds of silly questions,
like how did we eat our beans and fortillas. We felt 1t wasn’t any
of their business how we lived.

Helen was sure 1t was something good for us, maybe better jobs
or more money, as this gnngo had gotten our name from Alicia
Hernandez, the public health nurse Helen told me he had prom-
1sed to be back that evening

To avord hum T went across the street to Richard’s house Later
I asked Helen what happened.

“He’s coming back tomorrow,” she said.

“Well, I'm not gomng to be here when he comes,” T told her.
And T wasn’t T just went to Richard’s house again “He must want
something from ws,” I told Richard

I watched him dnive up, talk to Helen, and leave, then 1 went
home When Helen told me he was commng back again the next
day, I said I wouldn’t see him Helen put her foot down. “Well,
this time you tell him I'm not going to lie to him any more ”

When Fred arnived the next day, I was watching from the win-

dow 1n Richard’s house As he got out of his old car, he acadent-
ally banged lus knee, and 1t was obvious he hurt 1t He was limping
as he walked to our house, a tall, thin man 1n old and wom clothes
I saw Helen pointing out Richard’s house Fred hmped across the
street and knocked on the door |

I just let him talk, partly listening to hum and partly thinking
how I could teach him a lesson He was about twenty years older
than I was, and T could see he was sincere, but I couldn’t adout it
to myself Somehow that bothered me

He wanted to set up a meeting at our house as soon as possible
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“How many people do vou want?” | asked

“Oh, four or oive ”

“How about twenty?”

“(ee, that'd be great™

I already had a plan i nund T invited some of the rougher guys
I knew and bought some becr I thought we could show this
gnngo a little bit of how we felt We'd Jet him speak a while, and
when I gave them the signal, shifting my cigarette from my night
hand to the left, we'd tell lum oftf and run him out of the house
Then we'd be even But somehow I knew that tlus gnngo had
really impressed me, and that I was bemng dishonest

When the meeting started, Fred spoke quetly, not rabble-
rousing, but saying the truth He knew our problems as well as we
did. There was a creck behind Sal St Puedes which carmed the
waste from a packing house nearby. The kids downstream would
play m 1t, and they'd get sores There were big holes in that creek
where the water would collect and stagnate, and where the mos-
qutoes would breed He took on the politicians for not domg
something about it

The more he talked, the more wide-eyed I became, and the less
inclined I was to give the signal When a couple of guys who were
pretty drunk by that time stll wanted to give the gringo the
busiess, we got nd of them This fellow was makmg a lot of
sense, and 1 wanted to hear what he had to say

He told us he was an orgamzer for CSO, the Community Ser-
vice Organtzation, which was working with Mexican-Americans 1n
the aities Later I would find out that 1t was Fred Ross who started
CSO. He talked about the CS50, and the famous bloody Christmas
case mn Los Angeles a year earher where drunken cops beat up
some Mexican pnisoners I didn’t know what CSO was, or who
this guy Fred Ross was, but I knew about the bloody Chnistmas
case, and so did everybody n that room Five cops actually had
been jaied for brutality And that mracle was the result of CSO
efforts

Fred did such a good job of explaming how poor people could
build power that I could even taste it I could really feel 1t T
thought, gee, it’s Iike digging a hole There's nothing complicated
about 1t -

When he fiushed, I walked out to his car with him and thanked
him for commg I wondered what the next step was

“I have another meeting now I don’t suppose you'd hke to
come?” Fred said

“Oh, yes, I would!”
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And that was it My suspicions were erased As time went on,
Fred became sort of my hero [ saw him orgamize, and 1 wanted
to learn Rught away I began to see that organizing was difficuit Tt
wasn't a party I began to see all of the things that he did, and I
was amazed—how he could handle one situation and have a mil-
lLiont things going 1n his mind at the same time

I wanted to do 1t just as he did, so I began to learn It was a
beautiful part of my hife And eventually, Iike hum, I became an
orgamizer

FRED ROSS RECALLS

I was born 1 San Francisco m 1910, so when I met Cesar I was
barely forty-two, and I only had six years of orgamzing behind me.
All that I had orgamzed then was the Los Angleles CSO That
gives Cesar encouragement He says, “Look what Fred Ross did
after he was forty-two” By the tume Cesar was forty-two, he had
seventeen years of experience organizing

Of course, at the begimnng, I didn't know anythmg as far as
setting up a mass-based orgamization I had never done 1t But
house meetings worked Cesar later used the house-meeting tech-
mque to start the Union

Fust I'd hold small house meetings for three wecks, building
up to the big orgamzing meefing when we'd set up temporary
officers Then we'd orgamize through house meetings for several
more weeks before the second orgamzing meeting 'We then would
have a working CSQO chapter.

Later m CSO there were two broad-based programs we did
wherever we went—voter registration and citizenship classes We
never left a place until we had put on both of those power-building
programs

I'd been working in San Jose over three weeks, and we'd already
had the first orgaruzing meeting before I met Cesar I remember
he was mterested 11 what was n 1t for farm workers That first
house meeting on June g lasted about two hours Just before I
broke away I said I had another meeting at the Flores place. Cesar
volunteered to show me the way

Well, he was hooked He wanted to move on and see how other
people reacted Although he was stidl but a semiparticipant, at
least he saw the way people would open up at a house meeting,
especially when the meeting was relatively small so that they could
open up without being embarrassed to say what was on thewr munds
about themr problems and the neighborhood
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The mght after I met Cesar, we were going to start on the voter
registration drive, and he volunteered right away That was another
proof of his wterest We only had one deputy registrar then, and
I'd already gotten fifteen to seventeen persons to act as burd dogs
gomg up and down the street pulling the people out to go down
to the corner and register Cesar saxd he would be there the next
mght, and he was

At the very first meeting, I was very much mmpressed with Cesar
I could tell he was mntensely interested, a kund of burnmg interest
rather than one of those mflammatory things that lasts one mght
and 1s then forgotten He asked many questions, part of 1t to see if
I really knew, putting me to the test But it was much more than
that

He understood it almost nmmediately, as soon as I drew the
piciure He got the point—the whole question of power and the
development of power within the group He made the connections
very quickly between the civic weakness of the group and the
social neglect in the barrio, and also conversely, what could be
done about that social neglect once the power was developed

He also showed tremendous perseverance nght from the very
begimnmg. Although Helen was quite sick at the tune with a
kidney disorder, he was the only one m the whole orgamization
that came out every mght for two months to push that voter
registration dnive For whatever reason, all of Ins actions were
mvested with a tremendous amourt! of urgency.

He felt pretty hurt, I remember, when others started falling by
the wayside, people that started out with him, that we had high
hopes for

I kept a dhary m those days And the first mght I met Cesar, 1
wrote 1 1t, “I think I've found the guy I'm lookng for” It was
obvious even then
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CHAPTER 2

Are You a Communist?

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

Since I didn’t have any regular farm job, T was putting all my
time between jobs imto the CSO’s voter registration project The
June pnmanes were coming up and the general election That was
the year Eisenhower first ran agamnst Adlai Stevenson But there
were many umportant local races, too

When Fred came in to start the registration drive, he had a
ternble time getting one deputy registrar deputized Although thev
were nonpartisan offices, deputy registrars throughout Cahlifornia
were Republicans They were organized to prevent Chicanos from
vohing There were restrichions on everything. We couldn’t speak
Spanish when we were registering, we couldn’t go door to door,
we couldn’t register except in daylhight hours, we couldn’t register
on Sundays.

Today, the 1dea of getting everyone to register 1s accepted. We
fought for legislation mn Sacramento and helped correct these
things But in those days, there was a lot of resistance Fred put on
a big iight and finally got Jessie De La O whose father owned the
httle corner grocery in Sal S1 Puedes After Jessie was chosen, Fred
took me on as a bird dog to knock on doors and find the people
who were not registered

I'd never done that before, and when I knocked on the first
door and a Chicano lady came out, T was so frightened I couldn’t
talk She statred at me She hardly knew me, but she knew my
mother

“Well?” she said looking at me

I was having a difhcult time explaining what we were domng

Finally she smiled, “Okay, we're going to go register We know
you're registering people ” .

After leaving her house, I was embarrassed and mad at myself
for being so fnghtened Instead of gomg to the next house, I went
to a home where there were some rough characters I knew They
started kidding me, but T could communicate with them Most of
them either had been to San Quentin pnson or would end up
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there When I made a pitch for registration, they laughed and
called me “the politician ” But I got one of the marned sisters and
her husband to register

After that I went back to the second house Little by little, I got
confidence In about three days I was domng okay By then it was
a challenge I wouldn’t let anybody get away without registenng,
I’'d go into all kunds of arguments, but mostly I'd just sit in the
door and not take no for an answer I had a httle game going
with myself to beat the other volunteers

The volunteers were mostly college guys who always had to go to
meetings or go study, winle I had nothing else to do but register
I couldn’t understand why they didn’t find it as important as I did

We began to lose people After Fred left, I was soon the only
one gomg out So he made me chairman of the registration dnwve,
and I changed the tactics Instead of recrmting college guys, I
got all my fnends, my beer-dnnking friends With them it wasn’t
a question of cwvic duty, they hclped me because of fniendship,
and because 1t was fun Soon the registration dnve was going along
very well One of the men running for the Board of Supervisors
became very friendly, and we were able to get five more deputy
registrars

The dnve lasted eighty-five days, and I mussed only one be-
cause Fred msisted that I take off Part of that time I was work-
mg, but even when 1 worked, I'd take a shower afterward or some-
times just gobble up some food and take off to help register people.
I thing we ended up registering about six thousand persons by the

November elections
We had registered so many that the Republican Central Com-

mittee decded to mtimdate the people that were votmg for the
first time Republicans at the polls challenged voters “Are you
a atizen? Read from here!” People were scared away Fred came
to help us, and we tned unsuccessfully to get people to go back
and vote It was a disaster

After the election, we had an emergency CSO board meeting,
and Fred said, “We've got to send a wire to ] Howard McGrath,

the US attorney general, to protest the Republican harassment.”

Fred asked the president, Herman Gallegos, to sign the wire,
but Herman said he couldn’t because he was workmg with the
welfare department, and this would jcopardize his job He wen
down the Line, and everybody said no They were all professional
people except for Mike Aguilar, who worked mn a plamng mill,
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and myself I remember getting very upset 1 didn't say anything,
but msidc of me I lost all respeet for them

Fred didn’t even ask me to sign I was looked upon as probably
the least person on the board Fnally [ raised my hand and said,
“Tillsign 1t ”

Fred looked at me, “You wili?”

“Yeah, I'll sign 1t ”

“Okay. Fine! Fine!”

We also put a big blast m the paper Then the Republicans ac-
cused us of registerig illegals and dead people 'We called them
racists It was a big hght, my hrst ight with this power structure,
and my name started getting in the paper.

At the time I was back working in a lumber yard where we un-
loaded rough lumber and stored 1t I had an Itahan foreman who
would take me, on company time, over to his house for a drink of
wine, cheese, and bread He hiked me because, when he’d ask me
for something, I would get the job done

One day he warned me, “Compagno, you've been getting into a
lot of trouble Campagno, these politics are very bad, you know.”

Down at the yard some strange things began to happen, too.
Most of the people were Okies, except for one that worked there
duning the summer He was an undergraduate who knew what
was happening and liked 1t But all the others, when I'd come in,
would take their hats off and say, “Good momng, politictan ™ It
was funny I wouldn’t respond They weren’t being mean, they
were just puzzled by what was gomg on

Then thewr attitude toward me began to change It's a weurd
thing how the chermstry works I think this is how the reaction to
leadership begins to develop lLeadership many tunes 15 only a
mental condition, more than anything else They began to come
to me with Iittle problems that they had.

The first was an Anglo and older than I was, but he wanted to
tell me that he and his wife were breaking up I felt so bad and
mcompetent, as [ didn t know what to do What could I do? Since
he wanted to tell me, I worked with him, and hstened to all his
problems, but I couldn’t even make any suggestions. I didn’t know
how to handle the problern Then others began coming to me

There were other signs, too Often there was good-natured
roughhousing, but they began not to roughhouse with me any

more
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Then the supervisor, not the [tahan foreman but the guy at the
top, would come and ask me how things were gomng. As I look
back, I can see he didn’t understand very well what I was doing,
and I didn’t understand why theiwr attitudes were changing either

One day the FBI came looking for me at work The foreman
came rushing out “Goddamn! Compagno, you've got your ass in
a lot of trouble for fooling around with goddamn politicst Com-
pagno, the FBI wants to see you!”

I was scared What had I done? I knew I had never done any-
thing wrong, but who knows? These two young guys showed me
their FBI credentials in front of everybody Everyone just stopped
working and looked at me.

The agents started asking me a lot of questions about Com-
mumsm [ said, “You know damn well 'm not a Communist!”

But what they really wanted to talk to me about was the com-
plaint CSO had filed agamnst the Republican Central Committee.
So I relaxed, and we talked about 2 half hour Then I went back
to the Ime where the guys wanted to know what had happened I
wouldn’t tell them

Later that day the FBI agents took me m therr car for a meet-
ing with members of the Republican Central Cominittee which
turned nto a shoubting match That’s the first time I started
shouting at Anglos, shouting back at them.

The agent m charge was trymg to work the thing out Finally
he said, “Well, we have enough of these problems mn Mssissippt
and the South, and we don't want to have any of this nonsense
here 1in Califormia ”

I felt pretty good then It was recally reassuning The Republi-
cans were told that they couldn’t imtimadate people at the polls,
and that the investigation would continue. Actually nothing came
of the investigation except that the FBI put the heat on the Re-
publicans

When the agents brought me back to the yard about 3 30, we
went mto a httle diner where most of the plant people came for
coffee after work The workers came by at 4 oo, and 1t became a
major story around there

Then the Repubhcans started to red-bait me, which made the
papers again That red-baiting was the first hime for me, but tlus
was the peak of the Senator Joscph McCarthy era when many
people were being accused faisely When the charges against me
hit the press, there were repercussions
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At the plant, one of my very good friends was a poor, illiterate
Greck who didn’t know how to drive and didn’t want to take the
bus I can still see him, very short and with very baggy pants. I
went way out of miy way to take lum home m my car every day,
and on Saturdays he would call me to take him and his fammly
shopping

When somcone told lnm about the attack on me, he came to
give me a lesson on how bad Commumsm was I stood there, not
knowing what hc was talking about until he said the paper was
charging that T was a Communist or working with a Communist
orgamzation

I was funous at the Republicans that had said that and tned to
tell the Greek that I wasn’t a Commumnist But he wouldn't be-
hieve me

At work he always got his lunch pail and thermos bottle about
a half hour before work ended and put it in my car That day, we
were sorting lumber, and he had everything near lum. When the
whastle blew, he grabbed his stuff, put his head down, and started
across the yard to the opposite street where he could catch the bus

He rodc that bus for about two weeks Then I got some of the
Catholic prniests m town together with the help of Father Mec-
Donnell, and they put out a statement that we weren't Com-
mumsts The next day he wanted to ride with me agamn

The Chicanos also wouldn’t talk to me They were afraid. The
newspaper had a lot of mmfluence during those McCarthy days
Anyone who organized or worked for civil nghts was called a Com-
munist Anyone who talked about pohce brutality was called a
Cominunist.

Inverywhere 1 went to orgamze they would bluntly ask, “Arc you
a Communist?”

! would answer, “No ”

“How do we know?”

“You don’t know You know because [ tell you™

And we would go around and around on that. Tf it was some-
body who was being smart, 1'd tell them to go to hell, but if 1t
was somebody that T wanted to orgamize, I would have to go
through an explanation

Later 1 found out that when they learned I was close to the
church, they wouldn’t question me so much So I'd get the prests
to come out and give me their blessing In those days, 1f a prest
said sometling to the Mexicans, they would say fine It's different

now
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Because I was being attacked, the hiberals began to scck me out.
The few hberals in San Jose asked what they could do We struck
up a fricndship which we stidl have From then on, every Iittle
place T went, I met the liberal lawyer, the liberal teacher, the
hberal social wortker We would get together, and 1T got an educa-
tion I was pretty green, and I was mmprcssed by almost anyone 1
wanted to learn

I began to grow and to see a lot of things that I hadn’t secn
before My eyes opened, and I paid more attenhon to political
and social events I also began to read i a more disciplined way,
concentrating at first on labor, on biographies of labor orgamzers
ike John L. Lewis and Eugenc Debbs and the Kmghts of Labor
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CHAPTER 38

Recruiting Volunteers

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

It’s so hard to maintain a nonviolent approach to domng things,
but within our Umion, we are still succeeding To explain what I
mean, I have to go mnto another phase of it.

In order for us to have a nonviolent movement, the first thing
the leadership must say is, “If we can t orgamze the farm workers,
it’s not their fault, 1it’s our own fault” If we start from that prem-
1se, I think we're safe, because the easiest thing for organizers to
do 15 to damn the people or damn the opposition

The second thimg we must say 15, “We can’t win unless we
know how to orgamize.” So we need good organizers who are not
afraxd to act and not afraid to make mistakes. We must give them
a lot of freedom and get them to accept other people’s :deas Non-
violence has one big demand, the nced to be creative, and the
ideas come from the people

And the third thing we must say is, “We must wm 1n spite of
the opposihon ” We know that every time we knock down one
obstacle, we have five more m front of us, because the opposibon
has got almost everything that society has to offer in terms of
structured mnstitutions and power turned against us

When we encounter obstacles, I don’t think our job 15 to
knock them out. I think our job 1s just to do enough to get them
out of our way, so we can keep on going toward our goal

If someone commits viclence agamnst us, it 1s much better—if
we can—not to react against the violence, but to react in such a
way as to get closer to our goal People don’t hke to see a non-
violent movement subjected to violence, and there’s a lot of sup-
port across the country for nonviolence That’s the key pomnt we
have going for us We can turn the wortld 1if we can do 1t non-
violently

So, if we can just show people: how they can orgamize non-
violently, we can’t fail It has never failed when 1t’s been tned
If the effort gets out of hand, 1t’s from lack of discipline

If we can develop some confidence 1 an orgamzer’s ability to
orgamize, the orgamzer's tendency to use violence 1s much Jess
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Persons who don’t have any confidence get discouraged and then
get mto the trap of thinking that violence 15 the cure-all But
once that first act of violence 15 committed, they get on the de-
fensive And no one wins, that I know of, on the defensive For
example, if they get arrested for violence, then they must redirect
thewr efforts from taking on the opposihion to defending them-

selves

In the beginmng, the staff people didn’t thoroughly understand
the whole 1dea of nonviolence, so I sent out the word to get young
people who had been in the South and knew how to struggle non-
violently. That’s how we got our first volunteers—people from the
Congress of Racial Equahty and the Student Nonviolent Coor-
dmating Commuittee who had been 1n the Ciwil Rights Movement
there They were very good at teaching nonviolent tactics.
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CHAPTER 7

'The Power of

Nonviolence

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

To us the boycott of grapes was the most near-perfect of nonwio-
lent struggles, because nonviolence also requires mass involvement
The boycott demonstrated to the whole country, the whole world,
what people can do by nonviolent action.

Nonwviolence 1n the abstract 1s a very difhcult thing to compre-
hend or explain T'd read a lot, but all of 1t was m the abstract It's
cdafficult to carry the message to people who aren’t mnvolved Non-
violence must be explained m context

People equate nonviolence with mmachon—with not doing any-
thing—and 1t’s not that at all It’s exactly the opposite

In his autobiography, Malcolm X said, “I beleve 1t's a crime
for anyone who 15 being brutalized to continue to accept that
brutality without domng something to defend himsel€ If that’s how
Chuostian philosophy 15 interpreted, 1f that’s what Gandhian phi-
losophy teaches, well then I wall call them criminal philosophies.”

But Gandhi never said not to do anything. He said exactly the
opposite. He said, “Do something! Offer your hfe’” He said, “If
you really want to do something, be willing to die for 1t That’s
asking for the maximum contrtbution

Often only talk results when a person with social concern wants
to do something for the underdog nonviolently But just talking
about change 1s not gomng to bring it about Talk just gives people
an out Generally what happens 1s that people will study nonvio-
lence, read books, go to seminars where they discuss nonviolence,
and attend endless meetings In most cases, they find some satis-
faction 1n this and think they somehow are accomphshing some-
thing. But all the while, and nght across town, the pot 1s brewing

Reading 15 not bad, but thimking they made a great accomphsh-
ment 15 bad Theyte kidding themselves. These people can't be
effective. Nonviolence becomes just an 1deology, somettung to wnte
about, or read about, or talk about while still being very comfort-
able The ideology bacomes a luxury, not a way of ife And noth-
ing can be changed while bemng comfortable Lafe 1s not made that
way.
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Nonviolence 15 action Like anything else, though, 1t’s got to be
orgaruzed There must be rules. There must be people following.

The whole essence of nonviclent action 15 getting a lot of peo-
ple mvolved, vast numbers doing little things It's dufficult to get
people mvolved m a picket line, because 1t takes their hme But
any time a person can be persuaded not to eat a grape—and we
persuaded mallions not to eat grapes—that’s involvement, that's
the most direct action, and 1t’s set up 1n such a way that everybody
can parhcipate )

Nonviolence also has one big demand—the need to be creative,
to develop strategy Gandhi described 1t as moral juptsu Always
hit the opposition off balance, but keep your principles

Strategy for nonwviolence takes a tremendous amount of our time
—strategy against the opposition, and strategy to strengthen our
support We can’t let people get discouraged If there’s no prog-
ress, they say nonviolence doesn’t work They begin to go each and
everywhere And 1t's only when they are desperate that people
think violence 1s necessary

Of course, 1t 1sn’t If any movement 15 on the move, violence 15
the last thing that’s wanted

Naturally, nonviolence takes time But poverty has been with us
since the beginning of tune We just have to work for improve-
ment 1 despise exploitation and I want change, but I'm willing to
pay the pnce in terms of time There’s a Mexican saymng, “Hay
mds tiempo que vida”—There’s more time than hife We've got
all the time 1n the world

Some great nonviolent successes have been achieved in histors
Moses 1s about the best example, and the first one Chrst also 15
a beaut:ful example, as 15 the way the Chnistians overcame tyranny
They needed over three hundred years, but they did 1t The most
recent example 1s Gandh: To me that’s the most beantiful one
We can examine 1t more closely because 1t happened during our
hfetme It's fantastic how he got so many people to do things,
which 1s the whole essence of nonviolent achon

Nonviolence has the power to attract people and to generate

ower That's what happened to Gandh: Besides millions of In-
dians, he had many Englishmen, both 1n England and even Inda
siding with hin )

Bv and large, people oppose violence So when government or
growers use violence against us, we strategize around 1t We can
respond nonviolently, because that swings people to our side, and
that gives us our strength



Fust, of course, the workers have to understand nonviolence
Gandht once said he'd rather have a2 man he violent than be a
coward [ agree If he’s a coward, then what good 15 he for anyone?
But 1t 15 our job to see he’s not a coward That’s really the begin-
nimng pont of our traming

And winle the philosophy of nenviolence covers physical, verbal,
and moral behavior, we haven’t achieved that goal If we can
achieve 1t, we're samnts—which we're not We're still wacking on
elhmnating physical violence, though that wsn’t ali, by any stretch
of the imagination After workers begin to understand physical
nonviolence among peopie, then we also apply 1t to property and
go on from there

It’s like a leader marching at the head of a column, gomg up
and down hills. Pretty soon there are forks and cross-strects, and
the leader can't be followed because they can’t see hum. They
don’t know where he went The mmportant thing 15 to bnng them
along The mmportant thing 15 not to get lost

There came a point 1n 1968 when we were m danger of losmg
part of our column Because of a sudden mcrease mm wviolence
agamst us, and an apparent lack of progress after more than two
years of striking, there were those who felt that the titme had come
to overcome violence by violence

I told them I expected the Teamsters to buy people off or to try
to intimidate us “But we're not afraid of themn Nonvioience be.
comes more powerful as violence becomes more pronounced
You'll see how our tactics work
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CHAPTER 3

The Miracle of the Fast

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

There was demorahization m the ranks, people becoming desper-
ate, more and more talk about violence People meant 1t, even
when they talked to me They would say, “Hey, we've got to bum
these sons of bitches down. We've got to kill a few of them”

Several packing sheds had been burned We had a very natrrow
escape when one of our guys was run over by a truck The people
there wanted to do the truck driver in I even had to confiscate a
few guns off the picket line

I thought that I had to bring the Movement to a halt, do some-
thing that would force them and me to deal with the whole ques-
tion of violence and ourselves We had to stop long enough to
take account of what we were doing

So T stopped eating It was a Thursday Then I didn’t eat on
Friday or Saturday or Sunday LeRoy Chatfield, a former Chnistian
Brother, who was, I guess, the only one who knew I was fasting,
started cormng with me and helping me through the first few days
He would dnive me home and pick me up and hear about all the
pams I had and all the mghtmares about food

Those first three davs LeRoy brought me Diet Rite, but [ was
worned whether Diet Rite had any food value, because then that
wasn’t a clean fast After that I took only water

I didn’t know how long T was going to fast

After four days, I called a meeting of all the stnikers and the
staft at Filipmo Hall to announce what [ was domg T just made
a short speech T told them I thought they were discouraged, be-
cause they were talking about short cuts, about violence They were
getting so mad with the growers, they couldn’t be effective any-
more

Then I talked about violence How could they oppose the vio-
lence of the war in Vietnam, I asked, but propose that we use vio-
lence for our Cause? When the Civil Rights Movement turned to
violence, T said, 1t was the blacks who suffered, who were killed,
who had their homes burned If we turned to violence, 1t would be
the poor who would suffer
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“But,” I said, “it’s not enough to say, T'm not gong to be vio-
lent’ We have to show our commutment by working harder” 1
said that our work habits had been destroyed People were bitch-
ing, they were staying in the office, they weren't going out to the
picket lines

Then I smd I was going to stop eating unhl such hime as every-
one m the strike erther ignored me or made up therr munds that
they were not gomng to be committing violence 1 didn't wait for
reachions, I just walked out of Filipino Hall and headed for the
co-op building at the Forty Acres

I thought that if I fasted at home, Helen would be burdened
with people coming to the house at all hours That decision was
hard on both of us—I hked Helen to be with me all the time, and
she was split fwo ways, eitther away from the kids or from me But
fasting at Forty Acres was a good decision for other reasons that I
didn’'t know then, but that became obvious as the fast continued

While 1 was walking the few miles to the Forty Acres, Bob
Bustos jomned me Helen stayed at the meeting for a while, then
caught up by car and walked the rest of the way with me.

She told me I was crazy, and nobody would appreciate what 1
was doing I said I didn’t want anybody to appreciate 1t

“What about the family? Don’t you think that we count?”

“Well, that’s net gomng to work,” I told her “l made up my
mind, and the best thing you can do 1s to support me and help me
out”

After we argued a while, 1t hit her that I was really senous.
“Well, I should know when you make up your mind, you're stub-
bom, nothing will change 1t T mught as well just go along with
it,” she said. “But remember I don't like the whole idea T think
it’s ridiculous ”

I didn’t realize 1t then, because T was too worned about myself,
but Helen was stunned. She thought I was going to die because of
the fast

Meanwhile, at Filipino Hall, the meeting was thrown into an
uproar After I walked out, people began to fight among them-
selves LeRoy finally said, “The hell with 1 I'm not goimng to stay
here fighting while we have a guy fasting He needs a place to
stay, he daesn’t even have a bed. He doesn’t have any water You
know the damn place 15 as hot as hell He needs a fzn 1n there
I don’t know about you guys, but I'm gomng to go out there and
heip him ” And he left

Andy Imutan, one of the Filipino leaders, got up and began try-
mg to bnng the two sides together We lost several persons who
felc T was playmng jesus Chnst, but we pulled all the others to-
gether.
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JERRY COHEN RECALLS

LeRoy told us the mght before the meeting that Cesar was
fasting, and I got pissed off because of the Perelli-Mineth exper-
ience We didn’t know then that he was fasting, so I went up to
Marysville to negotate a contract before completing the Perelli-
Minett: agreement If I had known, T could have completed the
agreement a lot sooner

So now, when we heard he was fasting, about three of us cooked
up this idea—the only way to get hun off 1t was not to eat until
he started eating We figured we could get everybody 1n the offices
mvolved.

Cesar had no way of knowmg our plan But at the Filipino Hall
meeting, he gave us two examples He said, “Now this 15 a fast,
which means that I'm not domg it to put pressure on anybody”
If we were negotiahing with the growers, he said that he'd ask that
the negotiations be stopped during the fast because they mught
take 1t as pressure.

“Another example,” he said, “is 1f any of you were”—and I don't
know 1f he said “chicken shit enough to,” but some words hke
that—"for instance, tell me that you weren't going to eat until I
started eating, that would be a2 hunger stnike, and I wouldn't agree
to pressure like that This 1s not a hunger strike in the sense that
that would be a hunger strike.”

That really shocked me, because he psyched out the scene He's
very smart He just took the sails right out of our plan

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

At the Forty Acres, I staved 1n bed most of the time to con-
serve my energy. Lvery little drop counts I also wanted to change
the atmosphere, but I didn’t want to stop workmg Lying down
I could st:ll do a lot of work and see a lot of people And, as I also
wanted to receive Commumon every day, we had a datly mass and
mecting

After about three or four days, the spint was definitely there.
The Filipino women and the strkers pamnted the co-op windows
with bnght colors They looked Like stamed glass. Things began
to get cleaned up Everybody began to get things done on ther
own They began to think how to help

The rest was just hke a miracle—not the fast, but the things
that 1t did to people It jolted everybody around We got more
than T ever bargained for The good effects were way beyond my
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dreams The work schedule began to pick up, dedication ncreased,
and the whole question of using violence ended immediately Of
course, the sheds continued to burn, but we found out later some
volunteer iremen were buming them

There were many other effects The reaction from the opposr-
tion was ndiculous People mm town, the opponents, were saymg,
“Oh, that man’s not fasting, he’s just fooling everybody We
know he has a nurse there, and she feeds lum ” They said Marnon
Moses, one of my nurses, had gone out and chased jack rabbits at
might and fried them for me

I thought their comments were a comphment Ther reachon
proved to me that a fast was powerful, and by refusing to admt I
was fasting, they were admtting that fasting was a good thing

The fast also affected the grape boycott, which became stronger.
And a lot of people on the boycott also fasted So did many others
Marshall Ganz fasted for ten days. Dolores fasted, Richard fasted
Besides fastmg, they also saw all kinds of work that had to be done,
and they did it

Then the fast affected other people There was a very good re-
sponse from the church and some of the labor leaders Walter
Reuther came and gave us fifty thousand dollars for a building

Once we started with the religious service, the fast affected our
members m a very rehigious way, supporting me They brought
many offermgs, the largest number being crucifixes and Chrnist m
many forms Many others brought the Virgin of Guadalupe, while
the thid most popular gift was St Martinas Pores, the black saint
from Peru, who 1s the most popular saint in Latin Amenca.

There was a lot of personal communication m the fast. The
people came, and I would say one word or two, and they under-
stood To some 1t was very emotional They were very worned
about my dying

While the fast had tremendous effect and developed strength in
many ways, very few people supported me—wanted me to keep
fastmg Most people were worned, though for different reasons
The doctor was woinied because he was in charge if something
happened to me The staff was concerned because of friendship,
and because they felt many things had to stop while I fasted Very
few people could see all the spinitual and psychological and polits-
cal good that was conung out of it, good which I had no 1dea was
gong to happen

As the days passed the pressures ncreased for me to stop fasting
Helen and Richard were very worned. They tned to argue me out
of it “You can’t do this,” Richard would say “What happens 1f
you die?” And any time there was an opening, Helen would take
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a good shot at me, wanting me to stop She began to organmize
pressure agamst me—not consciously—but by expressing her fears

LeRoy, however, really saw the opportunity, saw what 1t was
gomg to do for the Umon He wasn’t that worned about my health

I went through different stages In the beginrung I had mght-
mares about food, about eating chicken or good vegetables Then
I would wake up to find I hadn’t eaten anything, and I was stll
hungry Then I went through the hunger pans, the headaches,
cleamng myself out It was a very difhicuit penod

After about seven days, I got away from all the physical pam 1
did not want food I saw it and rejected 1t And I was surpnised how
hittle sleep I needed, only two or three hours of 1t at one tuime 1
spent more time awake than sleeping

It wasn’t unti later that the other pains came, the leg pamns
and back pamns I think that because of a lack of calcium, I began
to draw calaum from my bones The pams in my joints were
hornble But that was later, after more than two weeks of not
ealing

After seven days it was ike gomg into a different dimension I
began to see things in a different perspective, to retain a lot more,
to develop tremendous powers of concentration

I had a lot of time to examine my past, and I was able to develop
self-cnticism and exammation I began to see that there were
more 1mportant things than some of the problems that upset me,
such as my admunistrative problems I lost most of my emotional
attachment to them

It wasn’t that saving my soul was more important than the
stnke. On the contrary, I saxd to myself, if I'm gomg to save my
soul, 1t’s gomg to be through the struggle for social justice

DOLORES HUERTA RECALLS

We arrived i New York about January zo, and Cesar went on
the fast February 15 We all got hut with 1t suddenly, because he
drdr’t tell anybody until he had been fasting for about five days
When I heard about 1t, I vomited, and I know the women on the
boycott in New York broke down and started crying I think I lost
eight pounds the first week of his fast All of us understood the
religious aspect of 1t, so we had a pniest come over from Brooklyn
the next Sunday and give us this special mass

Fred reacted very strongly, too, because I think Fred probably
lIoves Cesar more than anvbody m the world—inaybe even more
than his wife and children
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Some people reacted the other way, they just missed the whole
pomnt of the thing A Iot of people thought Cesar was trying to
play God, that this guy really was trying to pull a samtly act

Poor Cesar! They just couldn’t accept it for what 1t was I know
1t’s hard for people who are not Mexican to understand, but this
1s part of the Mexican culture—the penance, the whole idea of
suffering for something, of self-mflicted pumshment It's a tradr
tion of very long standing In fact, Cesar has often mentioned in
speeches that we will not wm through violence, we will win
through fastmg and prayer

I was't 1n Delano at all duning the fast, but a lot of unpleasant
things happened there at that tune in terms of the orgamization
Tony Orendamn, who was the secretary-treasurer of the Union, was
very cymical against the church He was one of the guys that was
a leader in all of the conflicts that took place when Cesar went on
the fast There’s an awful lot of bigotry even among Mexicans,
especially the ones from Mexico

But the reaction was widespread Somehime after the fast
started, Fred and I were talking on the phone to Saul Alinsky, who
saxd he had told Cesar how embarrassing 1t was to the Industrial
Areas Foundation for Cesar to go on that fast

And I said, “Well, you should be glad that he didn’t do il while
he was still working for you”

Alnsky smd, “We've had a ternble time trying to explam it ”

And then Fred—you just can’t say anything agamst Cesar with-
out Fred reacting—said, “Yea, Saul, but you don’t know what a
good orgamzing techmque that was, because by that fast he was
able to umfy the farm workers all over the state of Califorma
Prior to that fast, there had been a lot of bickening and backbiting
and fighting and little attempts at violence But Cesar brought
everybody together and really established humself as the leader of
the farm workers”

And Saul was at a loss for words

But that was the reaction of many hberals and radicals Cesar
feels that hberals are liberal nght up to the steps of the Catholic
church Guys can be hberal about homosexuality, about dope,
about capital pumshment, about everything but the Catholic
church. There the hberalism ends .So he doesn’t wam to feed the
brgotry that the average person has agamst the church He tres to
overcome that bigotry by his example
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CHAPTER 9

“To Be a Man Is to
Suffer for Others”

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

It's hard to remember all that happened dunng the fast, but [
remember this group of farm workers who came from a long ways
to visit, really perplexed by the whole thing and very worned

Every day the pressure on me increased to end the fast It
came from all directions. Members talked one to the other, then
there were constant delegations “You've got to stop! You've got
to stop!” The fast began to really affect them emotionally

Senator Robert Kennedy sent me a wire of concern. He asked
me to consider the consequences of what would happen to the
Movement 1f my health failed There were many other telegrams
and letters The pressures were a tremendous drain on me

My doctors were extremely worned about my lack of proteins
At first T didn’t want to let them examine me Fmally I agreed that
a doctor could check me, but that he couldn’t X-ray or take blood
out of me

The doctor found it very hard to accept those restnctions But
I felt that if he examined me and said I was i very bad shape,
and I then stopped the fast, there would be no nsks T also would
feel I stopped because I didn’t want to make much of a sacnfice
And 1if he told me T was in perfect shape, there stll would be no
nsk Without the element of nsk, I would be hypocntical The
whole essence of penance—which I'm a fool for because 1 think it

works—would be taken away.
Maybe I was i bad shape, but I thought I could go for a few
days more, and since I wasn't hungny, T had no mtentions of eating

DOLORES HUERTA RECALLS

At one pomt [ talked to Congressman Philip Burton s assistant,
Chuck Hurley, who 1s a very good friend Chuck told me LeRoy
Chatfield called him ““He wants the congressman to send Cesar a
telegram asking him to stop the fast,” he said
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I called Jim Drake to find out what was gomg on “Well,
Dolores,” Jum said, “all I can say 1s I think if Cesar wants to fast,
that’s lus busmess, and I happen to agree with him on 1t, but I'm
in the minority ”

I think LeRoy thought Cesar was damaging his health, and, of
course, he was right In fact, [ later apologized to Leroy for criti-
cizmg his actions

Peggy McGivern, who was the other nurse taking care of Cesar,
was worried about his health, too, but Peggy also 1s a very strong
Catholic She told me she just felt Cesar wasn’'t being told the
truth about what was happening to him. and that they were just
trying to scare hum off the fast

She was nght, really, because they were worrnted about Cesar’s
spine degeneratng, and that never really did happen. He had
muscle problems which the fast aggravated because he wasm't
getting protemn or the proper exercise

When Cesar finally decided to end the fast, Kennedy was asked
to come It took quite a bit of work He wanted to come, but I
think that he was afraid people mght mterpret it as a political
expediency At the time, the political scene was tight Senator
Eugene McCarthy had announced that he was rvnnmng for presi-
dent agamst President Lyndon Johnson, and there was a lot of pres-
sure on Kennedy to enter the race.

We went down to sec his assistant in New York and asked him
to ask Kennedy to come Carter Burden’s reaction was, “I dom’t
thmk he should go I think 1t's terrible to use a rehgious ceremony
like 2 mass for that purpose.”

But in the end, he did come

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

I think my biggest success i ife was being able to go without
food for twenty-five days I don’t think I could top that

On the day I broke my fast, | was pretty much out of 1t, T was
so weak We had a mass at the county park and used a flat-bed
truck for the altar

Kennedy arrived at Union headquarters at Forty Acres before the
mass started He was uneasy. “What do you say to a guy who's on
a fast?” he asked someone before he came mnto my room He was
in there only briefly, and neither of us had much to say

At the park, T was so much out of 1t, all I felt was a lot of
people pushing and trying to get closer to the altar It was hot I
remember arnving, a lot of people trymg to say hello, trymng to
hug me while I was being held up because my legs were so weak
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The mass was said by many prests, and many nuns came to
distmibute the bread 1 couldn’t see the crowd because I was sitting
down, but 1t was certainly one of the largest gathenngs i Delano
at the county park

I remember the TV people were there, and one cameraman
couldn’t get n while Kennedy was giving me a piece of bread
When he finally did, he told Kennedy, “This 15 probably the most
nidiculous request I have ever made Could you give hun a piece of
bread agamn?”

Because T was too weak, I couldn’t even speak my thanks, but
Jim Drake expressed my thoughts which I had put down earher.

“Our struggle 15 not easy,” I wrote “Those who oppose our
cause are nich and powerful, and they have many allies i high
places. We are poor Our allies are few But we have something
the nch do not own We have our own bodies and spunts and the
justice of our cause as our weapons "

“When we are really honest with ourselves,” 1 concluded, “we
must admut that our lives are all that really belong to us So it 15
how we use our lives that determines what kind of men we are It
is my deepest behef that only by giving our Iives do we find hife

“T am convinced that the truest act of courage, the strongest act
of manliness 1s to sacnifice ourselves for others in a totally non-
violent struggle for justice To be a man 1s to suffer for others God
kelp us to be men!”

When 1t was over, they put me on a mattress mn the station
wagon [ had been up about two hours, so the moment I it that
mattress, I went to sleep

Jim Drake told me that after the mass, the people crowded
around Kennedy, tellmg him he had to run for president Kennedy
was really moved When he got i Jim's car to be dnven to the
auport, he turned to Jim and said, “You know, I mght just do
that " It was the first indication we had that he might run



CHAPTER 13

Surprise m Sacramento

FROM JACQUES LEVY'S NOTEBOOK

September 15, 1974—New York Times Magazine feature article,
“Is Chavez Beaten”” by Winthrop Gniffith, 1s one of many that
appear in magazines, newspapers, and TV features, all suggestiug
the end of Cesar Chavez and the UFW

“No one who sympathizes with him,” wntes Gnflith, “wants to
adrmt that he 1s defeated Some of his Anglo supporters still pace
the sidewalks 1n front of city supermarkets, implonng customers
to boycott the grapes and lettuce nside, but therr posture now m-
dicates to the skeptical outsider that they are engaged in a lonely
vigil, not a dynamic national movement”

February 22, 1975—The UFW starts a 110-mile march from
San Francisco to Modesto, headquarters of the E & J Gallo winery.
Other contmgents head out from Fresno and Stockton, thus con-
verging on Modesto from the north, south, and west

One week later, jorned by supporters from throughout the state,
they march past the boycotted wmery's headquarters and end the
march at an enthusiastic rally Police estunate the crowd at fifteen
thousand, far greater than the final day of the original march to
Sacramento 1n 1966

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

The march to Modesto was Fred Ross, Junior's, idea He had
been working for the Umon for about five years, part of the second

generation which 1s now 1n the Movement At the time, he was n
charge of the Northern California boycott operation I didn’t dis-
courage the march, but I wasn’t too enthusiastic about 1t because
I didn’t think 1t would be very successful

On the last day, T was expecting about two or three thousand
people, but when I started getting the reports, I began to think
that thi, would be a good shot at legislation

Before our convention 1n 1973, I had told the executive board,
“It's time that we go on the offensive on legslation, that we talk
about a Bill of Rights for farm workers” We gave the project to

40



the legal department, and Jerry Cohen made a hst of ail the issues
as he saa them Then he met with the board and with me for
many sessions We went over all the 1ssues T also met with the
field office staffs, the people who had been mvolved m the strikes,
the workers, and we just touched every simgle base we could There
was tremendous wmput So Jerry finally drew up an rdeal bill

By the tume of the Modesto march, Jerry Brown was governor,
and the political chmate had improved Nothing could have been
as bad as Governor Reagan As soon as Brown was mn office, he
made a lot of appointments, appomting some of the people who
worhed with us, and some of the very close fmends of the Move-
ment For example, he appointed LeRoy Chatheld as his director
of administration, and Dr Jerome Lackner as director of the
Health Department

I thmk that Governor Brown s vers different than most pol-
ticians He knows that changes have to be made He 1s looking for
the areas where they should be made, and for was of bringing
about meamngful changes, not just cosmietic ones

But there had been rumors that the governor had said that he
was going to introduce “fan” fanmn labor legislation that no one
was gomng to like So I was concerned And smce we had about
twenty thousand people at the Nodesto rallh, I wamned them
about the legislation

Then I pointed in the direction of Sacramento and said that we
Iiked Governor Brown, but we hiked the farm workers more, and
that maybe we would have to go to Sacramento

The reports 1 got back were that the governor didn't hke that
statement But at that point he became very mterested 1n legisla-
tion and started working almost full time on 1t Shortly after the
march, we had a meeting with him and lus staff for one whole das
and laid out what we thought had fo be covered When we left his
Los Angeles home, I had a good feeling that he was going to come
up with a bill that was going to be acceptable

Well I think what happened was that he et his assistants draft
a bill, and they butchered 1t When 1t was mtroduced, 1t was a
devastating bill We let him know imimediately that we were
agamst 1t, and we began to fight with him, not only 1n California,
but throughout the countrn  We didn’t know 1f we could get lum
to change 1t
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LEROY CHATFIELD RECALLS

During my years with the farm workers, my feelmgs were that
legislation probably wouldn't solve the problem I had so Dttle
trust 1 politicians It was very difficult for them to reaily under-
stand the 1ssues And once “good legislation” was introduced, 1t
would get so whittled down that when the final product came out
for our governor to sign, it would be so weak that you'd have the
weakest people, namely the farm workers, up here in Sacramento
demonstrating against sigung a bl that was supposedly in therr
best Laterest.

Also I'd never worked with Governor Brown before I had to go
through a period of really convincing myself where his rmnd was,
where Ius heart was i respect to the farm worker thing in general

Now, the closer I worked with him, the more I realized that he
gemunely wanted fo see if he conld put this thing together—and
for tire nght reasons—and do the night thing He knew he was
gomg to piss off people on all sides

So once I knew that he was on rock bottom, then I felt that if
a bill came to Ius desk that was harmful to the farm worker move-
ment 1n general, he would veto it He's a very prmcipled person,
and he felt very strongly about this

But at first I remembered how Cesar and Marshall Ganz talked
about what legislation did to the Cwvil Rights Movement i the
South It seemed to take the wind out of 1ts sals So whenever the
governur or any of Ins staff would ask my opuuon, I would explamn
that I was opposed to legislation, and I would speak out n faver
of what [ called a2 negotiated settiement, using the power of the
governcer's office to try to bring people together and to hamumer
out a settlement that all sides wouid agree to

The counterargument, and the governor made 1t on more than
one occasion, was that that was very tenuous. There had been agree-
ments mn the past They hadn't worked out He always said that
the 1dea of going the way of negotiated settlement was hke grasp-
mg water

So then he set hus people to work drafting legislation A ot of
people had mnput mto it I certanly did I was locked to, m an
ad hoc and informal way, to represent the farm workers’ viewpoint
It was very agomzingly difficult for me Sometimes the staff or the
governor would ask questions nght off the wall—\W hat about this?
What about that?

I was just strainmng mto my conscrousness, any thirg that I couid
remember from the past How should I answer this® I couldn’t just

42



pick up the phone and call someone Sometimes I was very un-
comfortable wondenng how that would wash, so to speak, with
Jerry Cohen, for example, or Cesar, or Dolores, or Marshall Ganz
Am I being unfair to the farm workers® Am I adequately repre-
senting thewr viewpoint? And I wanted to screamn sometimes and
say, “But ook, they should be here! Why should [ have to ”
But that's human nature

This 1ssue was so important to the governor that he wanted to
be m very close contact with those working on it, sometimes 1t
just seemed hke hours and hours on end I mean he hterally mas-
tered this question of farm Iabor legislation And he personally
made known his views to those who were drafting legislation [
was just really amazed at how quickly and vastly he brought him-
self 1n tune with what really goes on out there

Politically, Governor Brown 1s extremely astute Later, when he
was talking with growers, when he was talking with Teamsters,
when he was talking with farm workers, he could sense soft pomts,
weakness, if you will He could sense strength Instinctively he be-
gan to feel what was giveable, what was not giveable

GOVERNOR EDMUND G BROWN, Tk, RECALLS

After all the years of struggle, 1 felt 1t was time to have a secret-
ballot election law and appropriate machmery for handhing unfair
labor practices For that reason, I asked Rose Bird, secretary of
agriculture, and her staff to start putting a bill together They m-
vited mput from a number of sides, but they wrote 1t within the
agency

My understanding of the problem 1s that in order to assure rela-
tively peaceful solution to the disputes, you have to balance eco-
nomic power, and you need a framework that 1s predictable so all
sides can understand the rules I felt that if I could wrnte a bill
that was 1 itself a fair and reasonable charter to solve this prob-
lem, I could then convince all sides with verv few additions or sub-
tractions

After the bill was ntroduced, I mvited m the bishops and the
religious groups that had supported Chavez, to get support for the
bl I convened a meeting in Los Angeles with supermarket execu-
tives, who then commumnicated with the growers I even called a
New fersey supermarket president mn Hawan, where he was at a
convention, to ask his support for the bl Then I sent out thou-
sands of letters, too, not only to umon officials, bul to shenffs,
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school board members, city councilmen, county supervisors to en-
Iist the broadest possible support and make the bill that [ had n-
troduced the vehicle for compromuse

You can’t bnng political pressure to bear unless political pres-
sure 1s already there I really think truth has its own inherent
power, and when 1t 1s combined with the historical moment, with
maybe a nudge here and there, things happen

I saw my role as a catalyst I wanted that bill, and I brought
all the forces together and constantly mixed them and made them
mteract m a wday that made thmgs possibly more propitious for
solution I pushed the bill, and then after it was . I kept work-
mng. I suppose if I hadi’t done that the whole issue might have
come up later, and then 1t rmght not have been possible to solve.

CESAR CHAVEZ RECALLS

The governor began to ask, “What's wrong with this?” And we
began to negotiate. Jerry Cohen talked directly with LeRoy who
talked directly with the governor Jerry has a brlhant mind He's
got a really good way of getting the most complicated legal stuff
and either comphcating 1t beyond any hope, 1if that needs to be
done, or just really going to the core and explaimng it very simply
And he was at Ins best because 1t was negohating over legal lan-
guage

There were some very hectic meetings, all night meetings On
Saturday might, May 3, they negotiated all might and all throuch
Sunday and all through Sunday night By that time 1t was down
to Jerry and the governor and LeRoy and one or twe of the gov-
ernor’s assistants We compromised as much as we could Finally
we said, “This 15 the mmunum we'll accept, and we won’t accept
changes”

The compromise would set up a five-man board to run secret-
ballot elections It would permit the largest amount of people to
vote, requinng that elections be held at peak season employment,
so that the mugrants could vote. It also was geared so that elec-
tions would be held quickly, so that we wouldn’t get canght fight-
mg for an election one day, and then waiting two or three months
for 1t, until everybody was gone It would permut workers to vote
on the pre-existing Teamster contracts and set up voting on the
basis of all the workers on a ranch, instead of by crafts It also
dealt with unfair labor practices, guaranteemng that a worker could
not be fired because he openly declared hinself for one umon or
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another And 1t prevented the employer from contmng a rela-
tionship with the Teamsters, prevented the employer from telling
the worker that if he didn’t vote for the Teamsters, he was going
to get fired It also pernmtted strikers to vote

We gave up some of our nights to boycott, but we kept the nght
to the primary boycott, and-—f we won an elechion—the nght to
ask people not to shop at a store 1f 1t was selling a product from
a grower where we had won an election That meant that if we
wan an election, and the grower wouldn't sign a contract, we
would have the nght to bring economzc pressure to him

On May s, I was conducting an mtensive campaign n Los An-
geles County on the campuses to develop support for our position.
[ went to about six or seven different universities, and we had a
lot of press The next day, we were previewing the film, “Fighting
for Qur Lives,” for the farm workers m Bakersfield It's a docu-
mentary on the 1973 stnke

About 7 oo P M, a call came n from Jerry I was already on 111
way to the rally, so I sent word, asking 1f 1t could wait until g 30.
The word came back, “Yes, but we're pushing it It's extremely
important 7

The moment the film was over, I rushed out to the phone I
had to go through a lot of people who were very enthusiastic after
seemng the ilm Many had been mnvolved m the beatings and the
jailings that they had just seen So I had a hard tnne gething to the
phone

When I did, Jerry told me, “The governor 15 getting together all
of agribusiness here in Sacramento, nght now, i his office They ve
agreed to the proposal But they have some preconditions ™

I said, “Did we do anything wrong, Jerrs?”

So T talked to the governor, and he said, “Look, 1t’s going to be
at least a half hour to forty-five minutes, because we don’t have
everybody here yet We need a little fime ™

I said, “Okay, we'll call you” We went over to my daughter’s
hovse 1 Bakersfield A half hour later T called, and they said,
“Well, 1t’s going to be at least an hour, forty-five mnutes ”

So we drove to La Paz There I called the governor immedatels,
and he said, “Well, we're still not quute reads We're putting some
loud-speakers on the telephone ”

I found out the growers would agree to accept the compronuse
provided we did two things—that we agreed that nothing should
be changed, not even a penod, and that they hear from me per-
sonally that we were supporting 1t

So I told the governor, “Well, Jerri’s there He's our representa-
trve He's authonzed ”
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“They want to hear you personallv ’

I thought that 1t was very ironic that we shouald have the same
precondition, that there be no changes It showed how much trust
we had 1n each other

So when they got the phone hooked up to the loud-speaker 1n
the governor's office, Governor Brown got the growers, one after
another, to 1dentifv themselves and state publhiclv thev were for the
bull

Jern tells me the growers were all sitting at a table When the
governor asked me if [ would support the hill. they all moved out
to the edges of their seats, locking at the loud-speaker And when
1 answered, “Ven, venv definitely,” they broke into smiles and ap-

plause

FROM JACQUES LEVY'S NOTEBOOK

After the committee approves the bill, the governor calls a spe-
cial session of the legislature to consider it The move 1s a techn-
cality which permuts the bl to become law within ninety days,
after passage The fust elections then can be held in the tall instead
of warting untid the 1976 harvests

While passage of a Califorma Bill of Rights for farm workers
would be considered a major landmark, this history of La Causa
canuot be ended It has only begun Ahead are more human drama,
more sacrifice, more victones, and more defeats

The umon’s progress will be slow, as each segment of agnbus:-
ness attempts to delay the day when its workers are represented by
the umon of their chowce Legislation setling up secret-ballot elec-
tions may ease the question of representation, but an election won
doesn’t guarantee a contract

Imt the future, Cesar Chavez and his followers will repeat the tac-
tics they have used in the past, turning to the public for support
to equalize the economic power of those who prowvide jobs and
those who need them

And the umion’s opponents will fight back, attempting to dis-
credit La Causa and 1ts leaders, attempting to amend legislation to
make 1t meffective mn providing the majonty of agricultural work-
ers the same rights cnjoyed by other working people, and attempt-
mg to block uinomzation with the use of local courts and police

To help counter some of this political power, the umon already
has plans to orgamze the poor and the cldetly in both rural and
urban areas, thus broadenimg its base and its political effectiveness
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At this juncture the success of La Causa cannot be measured
in terms of numbers of contracts, wage mcreases, and improved
working conditions Significant advances have been made, but the
ground to cover 1s still great

Of far greater importance has been La Causa’s achievements m
showing the way to meammngful social change by using militant
nonviolent tactics and by organizing people of various backgrounds,
polifical persuasions, and faiths. In an era of great cymcism, La
Causa 1s showing that mndividuals can make a difference, can help
themselves and others, and can keep their principles, although the
task 1s hard and 15 never-ending
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CHAPTER 14

Saying Yes to
Man’s Dignity

CESAR CHAVEZ LOOKS AHEAD

Once we have reached our goal and have farm workers protected
by contracts, we must continue to keep our members nvolved
The only way 1s to continue strugglmg It’s just like plateaus We
get a Union, then we want to struggle for something else The
moment we sit down and rest on our laurels, we're in trouble

Once we get contracts and good wages, we know the tendencs
will be for the majonty to lose inferest, unless the Umion 15 threat-
ened or a contract 1s being renegotiated The tendency will be for
just a few to reman active and 1nvolved, while everybody else just
holds out until something very big happens That’s true of other
umons that we've seen, that’s true of other institutions, that's true
of our country

To avord that, to keep people’s attenhion and continuing interest,
we've got to expand and get them involved m other things. The
Union must touch them daily

Our best education. the most lasting, has been out on the picket
line But when the mitial membership gets old and dies off, the
new people coming in won’t have had the same expenence of
building a Umon So we must get them involved in other neces-
sary struggles

Poor people are going to be poor for a long time to come, even
though we have contracts, and economic achon 15 an eaciting
thmg for them If they see an alternative, they will follow it And
we've probably got now the best organization of any poor people
m all the country That’s why we can go any place in California
where there are farm workers and get a whole group of people to-
gether and 10 achion We are hutting at the real core problems.

After we've got contracts, we have to build more chimes and
co-ops, and we've got to resolve the whole question of mechamza-
tion. That can become a great 1ssue, not fighting the machines, but
working out a program ahead of time so the workers beneht

Then there’s the whole question of political action, so much
pohitical work to be done taking care of all the gnievances that
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people have, such as the discnmmation their kids face 1n school,
and the whole problem of the police I don’t see why we can’t
exchange those cops who treat us the way they do for good, decent
human bemgs hike farm workers Or why there couldn’t be any
farm worker judges.

We have to parhcipate in the goveming of towns and school
boards We have to make our mfluence felt everywhere and
anywhere It's a long struggle that we're just beginning, but it can
be done because the people want 1t.

To get 1t done, there’s a lot of construchion work needed with
our members Many are not aitizens, and others are not registered
to vote We must work toward the day when the majonty of them
are cthizens with a vote

But political power alone 15 not enough. Although T've been at
it for some twenty years, all the tume and the money and effort
haven’t brought about any sigmficant change whatsoever Effective
political power 15 never gomng to come, particularly to mimnonty
groups, unless they have economic power And however poor they
are, even the poor people can organize economic power

Political power by itself, as we've tned to fathom it and to
fashiont 1t, 15 Iike having a car that doesn’t have any motor n it.
It's hke stnking a match that goes out. Economic power 15 hike
having a generator to keep that bulb burning all the time So we
have to develop economic power to assure a continuation of pohiti-
cal power

I'm not advocating black capitalism or brown capitahsm. At the
worst 1t gets a black to exploit other blacks, or a brown to exploit
others At the best, 1t only helps the lives of a few What I'm
suggesting is a cooperative movement.

Power can come from credit 1n a capitalistic society, and credit
1 a society hike ours means people As soon as you're born, you're
worth so much—not in money, but in the prnivilege to get in debt.

As a continuation of our struggle, I think that we can develop
economic power and put 1t mte the hands of the people so thes
can have more control of their own lives, and then begim to change
the system We want radical cliange Nothing short of radical
change 15 going to have any immpact on our lives or our problems
We want sufficient power to control our own destimes This 1s
our struggle Itf's a lifetime job The work for social change and
agamnst social injustice 15 never ended
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That's whv if we make democracy work, I'm convinced thats
by far the best sistem And 1t will work 1if people want 1t to But
to make 1t work for the poor, we have to work at 1t full tme And
we have to be wilhing to just gne up everstiung and nisk 1t all

In the last twenty vears, the farm workers’ outlook has radically
changed, just Tike day and might Twents vears ago. to get onc
person to talk to me about the Union was an effort Thev were
afrmd Now, we've overcome that

And the 1dea of serving without pay—they had never heard
about that Right now we need a good education program, a
meamngful education, not just about the Union, but about the
whole 1dea of the Cause, the whole 1dea of sacnficing for other
people

Fighting for social justice, it seems to me, 15 one of the pro-
foundest ways wmx winch man can say yes to man’s digmty, and that
reallh means sacrifice There 15 no way on this earth i which
1ou can sat 1es to man’s digmitv and know that jou're going to

be spared some sacrifice
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